UNIVERSITY OF PARDUBICE

FACULTY OF CHEMICAL TECHNOLOGY

Institute of Chemistry and Technology of Macromolecular Substances

Peter Bohacik

Structures Copolymers used as Binders in Polyurethane Coatings

Theses of the Doctoral Dissertation

Pardubice 2021

Study program: Chemistry and Technology of Materials Study field: Surface Engineering

Author: **Peter Bohacik** Supervisor: **prof. Ing. Stepan Podzimek, CSc.** Year of defence: 2021

References

BOHACIK, Peter. *Structured Copolymers used as Binders in Polyurethane Coatings*. Pardubice, 2021. 164 pages. Dissertation thesis (Ph.D.). University of Pardubice, Faculty of Chemical Technology, Institute of Chemistry and Technology of Macromolecular Substances. Supervisor Prof. Ing. Stepan Podzimek, CSc.

Abstract

This work describes the preparation and properties of structured copolymers. The theoretical part describes the structures and possibilities of synthesis, a basic description of molecular weights and their determination, a description of the properties of polyurethane coatings. The use of structured copolymers as a binder in paints is described in the experimental part. Furthermore, the experimental part contains the characteristics of the prepared structured copolymers in terms of molecular weight distribution, the characteristics of the prepared coatings using basic painting tests, determination of the glass transition temperature (T_g) of the prepared coatings, determination of micro hardness.

Keywords

Structure copolymers, SEC-MALS, Film-forming properties, ionic polymerization, GTP polymerization

Klíčová slova

Strukturované kopolymery, SEC-MALS, filmotvorné vlastnosti, iontová polymerace, GTP polymerace

Table of Contents

1.	Polymer structures	5
	1.1 Synthesis techniques of polymerizations structures 1.1.1 Group Transfer Polymerization - GTP. 1.1.2 Ionic polymerization	6 6 9
	1.1.3 Polyurethanes and polyurethane coatings	. 10
2	Objectives of the work	. 12
2	Experimental part	. 13
	2.1 Process for the synthesis of star polymers by ionic polymerization	. 13
	2.1 Characteristics of prepared star polymers	. 17
	2.1 Characteristics using SEC-MALS-OnlineViskozimeter	. 18
	2.2 Optimization of curing conditions for polyurethane coatings2.2.1 Influence of IPDI on coating hardness	. 20 . 22
	2.3 Evaluation of properties of coating films based on trimethylolpropane	. 22
3	Conclusion	. 24
4	List of References	. 25
5	List of Student's Published Works	. 30

Introduction

The range of application properties of synthetic polymers is influenced not only by their molar mass distribution, but also by the structure of the polymer chain. The structure affects the properties of the polymer chain, such as: branching, chemical resistance, solubility, thermodynamic behaviour in solution, melt viscosity, creep.

The first synthesized structured polymer was a star-shaped polymer, synthesized in 1948. It was synthesized by Schaefen and Flory. [1] Since then, there has been a large increase in publications dealing with the synthesis of star polymers and other structures using various techniques. Known polymerization techniques include, for example: Group Transfer Polymerization (GTP) or Reversible Addition Fragmentation Chain Transfer (RAFT). RAFT polymerization is currently also used for the synthesis of polymers used in photovoltaics and medicine.

Due to the fact that these polymerization techniques are relatively expensive, and there is the possibility of synthesizing structured polymers also by ionic polymerization, which is significantly cheaper compared to previous polymerization techniques, this technique is often used.

1. Polymer structures

There are many polymeric structures that can be synthesized using various polymerization techniques. The basic and most well-known polymeric structures include the following types: block co/polymer, branched polymer, dendrimers, helical co/polymer, hyperbranched polymers, star polymers, polymer networks, linear polymers, grafted and comb polymers. There are also so-called exotic structures, which may include the following polymers: cardo polymers, cetane polymers, ladder polymers, multi-strand polymer, roxatanes, spiro polymers and centipede polymers. [2 - 5]

The star polymers are formed by a core to which the arms are attached. [6] The core may be a nano gel, a small molecule or a polyol, as in the case shown in Figure 1, where the number of OH groups determines how many arm stars are formed. In this way it is possible to prepare three, four, five, six... arm stars. If a more functional acrylate is used as the core, for example: ethylene glycol dimethacrylate (EGDMA), a star-shaped polymer with a high number of arms is formed. [7] The number of arms can only be influenced by the amount of more functional acrylate added. When adding a more functional acrylate, the possibility of side reactions must also be taken into account. The side reactions that occur with the addition of a large amount of difunctional acrylate include the so-called core forming agent and these reaction centers begin to react with each other, resulting in the formation of a polymer network and a gel. [6-11] The structures of star-shaped polymers are shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1 Structures of star polymers. [12]

1.1 Synthesis techniques of polymerizations structures

In the commercial process, radical polymerization is one of the most widely used polymerizations. The main factors in the use of radical polymerization are their wide applicability to monomers and various reaction conditions. Radical polymerization is simple and inexpensive compared to other technologies. By conventional radical polymerization, however, it is not possible to synthesize polymeric structures. Therefore, it is appropriate to use other polymerization techniques such as e.g. Group Transfer Polymerization (GTP), Reversible addition-fragmentation chain-transfer polymerization (RAFT), Atom transfer radical polymerization (ATRP), Single Electron Transfer-Living Radical Polymerization (SEC-LRP), Oxoammonium catalysed oxidation (called organic synthesis, in macromolecular chemistry known as Nitroxide-Mediated Radical Polymerization (TEMPO and 4-OH-TEMPO)), ionic polymerizations (cationic and anionic). [3]

1.1.1 Group Transfer Polymerization - GTP

GTP polymerization is still used for the synthesis of various structures, despite its relatively high cost. Recent discoveries include the 1992 discovery that a polymer that initiated polymerization was used for a GTP catalyst. The discovery belongs to T. Kakuchi and Yasud from Hokkaido University, Japan. Research into *N*-heterocyclic carbenes (NHCs) as catalysts has been addressed by a group around D. Taton (University of Bordeaux, France) and a group around R. M. Waymouth (Stanford University, California). These groups used *N*-heterocyclic carbenes (NHCs) catalysts for the polymerization of acrylates, methacrylate's and acrylamides as block copolymers. [13 - 16]

Group Transfer Polymerization can be classified as "quasi-living" oxoanionic polymerizations in terms of mechanism. The technique is suitable for the polymerization of α , β -unsaturated carbonyl substances, where ketene acetals are used together with metal-free nucleophilic catalysts to initiate the polymerization. [17-19] The first theory hypothesized that it is a covalent non-ionic mechanism that is dependent on the protection of the polymer chain by a trimethylsilyl group (present in the initiator) that initiates polymerization. Later experiments showed that it is an oxo-ammonium mechanism (dissociative GTP mechanism), where the enolate acts as an active center of reaction. [20-21] As GTP polymerization experiments continued, *N*-heterocyclic carbene-catalysed GTP polymerization (NHCs) also emerged over its catalysts over time, suggesting that it is an associative GTP mechanism. [22] The current 2002 theory is that the possible mechanism of GTP polymerization is dissociative and associative at the same time, with the balance shifting more to the dissociative mechanism between the dissociative and associative mechanisms, [23 - 24] as shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2 Possible dissociative and associative mechanism of GTP polymerization. [22]

According to the mentioned features of GTP polymerization, it can be described as a universal method of synthesis of structured copolymers. Structures that can be synthesized by GTP polymerization include, for example: block copolymers, star polymers, linear polymers, functionalized polymers (containing functional groups at the beginning/end of the chain, depending on the initiator used), which can then be used in the next step. as precursors for radical polymerization or ring-opening (usually epoxy ring) polymerization. [3; 25 - 26] The limitation of GTP polymerization is its high sensitivity to the purity of used monomers and solvents, therefore the molecular weight of GTP polymers is usually up to 20,000 g/mol and the dispersity of polymers prepared in this way is usually in the range $D \sim 1.2 - 1.3$ [26]

GTP polymerization is sensitive to impurities, water and protons. [3; 18] Therefore, monomers and solvents must be thoroughly cleaned, dehydrated and dehydrated before use. Monomers which contain R-OH, R-CO₂H groups in their structure must be protected in order to be polymerizable. The most commonly used protecting groups are

trimethylsilyl (TMS), but also, for example: 2-(pyridin-2-yl) ethyl, tetrahydro-2H-pyran-2-yl, which protect carboxyl groups. [7; 27]

Typical GTP solvents used are tetrahydrofuran (THF), 1-2-dimethoxyethane, acetonitrile (MeCN), toluene (PhMe), N, N-dimethylformamide (DMF) and propylene carbonate. It is also possible to use dichloromethane and 1,2-dichloroethane.

Various types of molecules are used as initiators of GTP polymerization. They can be divided into simple mono-functional initiators, mono-functional initiators with a protected group, simple di-functional initiators, and degradable di-functional initiators (they form a ketene acetal in the reaction mixture). GTP initiators usually contain the following structure:

1-alkoxy-1- (trimethylsiloxy) -2-methyl-1-alkene. The simplest GTP initiator is

1-methoxy-1-trimethylsiloxy-2-methyl-1-propene (MTS), from which other GTP initiators can be derived. This gives rise to trimethylsilyl ketene acetals, which are the most widely used, but their disadvantage is that they decompose over time. In bifunctional initiators, a polymer chain grows at both ends of the initiator. Examples of bifunctional initiators are:

1,4-bis (methoxytrimethylsiloxymethylene) cyclohexane (MTSMC) a

1,2-bis [1- (2-methyl-1- (trimethylsiloxy) prop-1-enyloxy) ethoxyethane] (BisMTS). [28 - 29]

Silyl ketene acetals and α -silyl esters and their derivatives such as trimethylsilyl cyanide generate silyl ketene acetals in the reaction mixture. These types of initiators are suitable for the polymerization of acrylates. [28 - 29]

The choice of catalyst for GTP polymerization is important because the catalyst activates the initiator by nucleophilic catalysis and the monomer by electrophilic catalysis. In nucleophilic catalysis, a small amount of catalyst is used, usually $\sim 0.1\%$ per initiator, but in electrophilic catalysis, the amount required is significantly higher, usually $\sim 10\%$ per initiator. The following can be used as GTP catalysts: soluble fluorides, difluorides, azides, cyanides, phosphines, oxoanions and dioxo anions.

GTP polymerization is usually used for the synthesis of polymers with a molecular weight of 1,000 - 20,000 g/mol, but it can also be used for the synthesis of polymers with a molecular weight of 100,000 - 200,000 g/mol. In the case of polymerizations of high molecular weight monomers, the demands on the purity of the monomers and solvents used increase. It can simply be said that the larger the molecule we want to synthesize, the cleaner the chemicals we need. [30]

Random polymers can be synthesized very easily, it is sufficient to mix the starting monomers and start the polymerization.

The procedure for block copolymers is similar. First, block A is polymerized, followed by a short pause for all A-monomer to react, in the second step monomer B is added and again for monomer B to react, thus forming block copolymer AB with a living end to which a third block C can be synthesized in formation of ABC copolymer, or

terminate the reaction. The literature indicates that up to 9 block copolymers can be synthesized in this way. [17 - 18; 30 - 31]

1.1.2 Ionic polymerization

The term live polymerization, and live polymerization, was first discovered and defined by Schwarz as a polymerization chain that grows without side reactions (transfer and termination). His discovery was that the initiator could be consumed at the beginning of the polymerization, and the polymerization proceeded very quickly even with monomers of different reactivity. The names controlled or live polymerization are currently used. [33 - 36]

Currently, live / controlled polymerizations are considered to be those that meet the following:

- have linear kinetics ln ([M]0/[M] vs time) Figure 3. If the reaction proceeds in the first step to monomers, it usually shows a slow initiation, which is related to the termination or deactivation of the catalyst
- shows a linear increase in molecular weight with a conversion of $\Delta[M]/[I]0$, with the ratio of molecular weight to conversion indicating transfer, constant chain growth and slow initiation as shown in Figure 4.
- polydispersity may decrease with conversion in slow initiation systems, and increase with conversion when side chain reactions predominate
- end-group functionality is not affected by slow initiation and transfers, but functionality decreases when side reactions begin to predominate [36–38; 39]



Figure 3 and 4 The kinetics of ionic polymerization, where figure 3 shown kinetics of ionic polymerization, and figure 4 shown dependency initiation on the conversion. [39]

The first truly controlled living polymerization was described in 1982 by Otsu, who polymerized dithiocarbamates by cationic polymerization, achieving high dispersity and low conversion. [40] In 1993, Georges published the first article on the block TEMPO polymerization of styrene. [41] In 1995, the way to use Cu, Ru, CuX_2 / bips, $RuCl_2$ / (PPh₃)₂ was started. [42] Later, this type of polymerization was called Atom Transfer

Radical Polymerization (ATRP). This was followed by other polymerization concepts such as: addition / fragmentation (RAFT), degenerative transfer (TEMPO, ATRP).

[43 - 47]

Ionic polymerization uses polarization on the double bond. Initiation of ionic polymerization requires low activation energy and the polymerization rate is little temperature dependent. Ionic polymerization usually takes place at -70 °C / -50 °C. The anionic polymerization usually takes place at -70 °C in THF. Ionic polymerizations do not terminate by recombination because the growing chains are electrostatically repelled from each other due to the charge at their ends.

Termination of growth is caused by impurities and intentionally added substances such as: water, alcohols, amines, oxygen. These substances react with the micro ion at the end of the polymerization chain to form a neutral substance or an inactive ion.

Complexes based on: BF₃, AlCl₃, TiCl₄, SnCl₄, SbCl₅, P₂O₅, AgClO₄ with alcohol or as oxonium salts have proved successful for cationic polymerization, with positive ions initiating the polymerization. It is also possible to initiate cationic polymerizations with HCl, H₂SO₄ and KHSO₄. In cationic polymerization, there is a carb cation or oxonium ion at the end of the chain. [48]

1.1.3 Polyurethanes and polyurethane coatings

Polyurethanes have been studied since 1935. Their use in macromolecular chemistry began to be studied by Otto Bayer and his collaborators in the German group I.G. Farben, where they discovered addition reactions of polyisocyanates with polyalcohol to form high molecular weight products. Polyurethane chemistry is universal in terms of the choice of isocyanates from single-functional, multi-functional to polyisocyanates and alcohols, which can be separated similarly to isocyanates. [49]

Polyurethanes are coatings that contain a urethane group (-NH-COO-). The advantages of polyurethane coatings include good resistance to stress and abrasion resistance. Aromatic isocyanates have one major disadvantage, namely that they change colour to yellow after being exposed to UV radiation. This change is undesirable in some applications, so it is necessary to stabilize them or replace them with aliphatic isocyanates. Hindered Amino Light Stabilizers (HALS stabilizers) are usually used for stabilization, which contain -NH₂ groups in their structure, which are able to form stable radicals. [50] Among the disadvantages of aliphatic isocyanates it is possible to include their lower reactivity about up to 2-3 times compared to aromatic isocyanates, but on the other hand their advantage is that they are significantly cheaper than aromatic isocyanates.

Polyurethane coatings are most often used as coatings for furniture, structural coatings for buildings, to a lesser extent as coatings for cars, seals in electrical engineering and others. These uses can be summarized in one-word CASE. CASE is an abbreviation of the English words: coatings, adhesives, sealants and bedding. [51]

In the reaction of a poly / isocyanate to form a polyurethane, an alcohol / poly alcohol (polyol) is most often used. Polyols are most commonly used as oligomers. The number of functional groups affects the properties of the resulting polyurethane, foam, or coating. [63] The polyols used are polyether polyols, aliphatic / aromatic polyester polyols, acrylic polyols, THF-based polyether polyols, polytetramethylene glycol (PTMEG). The largest group of polyols include polyether polyols, which include propylene oxide (PO) and ethylene oxide (EO) derivatives. The most common are heterogeneous mixtures of PO and EO, block copolymers of PO with EO. A combination with butylene oxide (BO) is also possible. Polymeric polyols, [52-57] polytetramethylene glycol (PTMEG), polytetrahydrofuran (PTHF), [58] natural oils presenting various types of polyols including, for example: castor oil. oil containing natural triglycerides. [59 - 61]

Catalysts are used in the production of PUR foam and in the use of PUR coatings. Usually, dilute catalyst solutions are added in an amount of 0.1-1 % by weight. The most commonly used catalysts are: triethylene diamine, *N*-(2-dimethylaminoethyl) -*N*-methyl piperazine, dimethylamino ethanol, *N*-ethylmorpholine and dibutyltin dilaurate (DBTL). [62]

Urethane coatings include: two-component coatings, isocyanate-blocked coatings, wet-curing PUR coatings, thermoplastic PUR dispersions, PUR/acrylate dispersions, aqueous UV curable PUR coatings and urethane alkyds.

2 Objectives of the work

- Prepare structured copolymers with different arm lengths and number of functional groups
- Characterize the prepared structured copolymers using gel permeation chromatography, gel permeation chromatography in conjunction with multiangular light scattering and online viscometer, determination of OH group content, determination of acid number
- Synthesize polyalcohols, and characterize them by gel permeation chromatography, determination of acid number and determination of OH group content. The polyalcohols will be added to the star polymers to form PUR coatings
- Synthesize and characterize a star shaped GTP polymer without functional groups, which will be used as a plasticizer in PUR coatings
- Characterize prepared PUR coatings using basic painting tests
- Characterize the prepared coatings by determining the glass transition temperature T_g
- Putting PUR coating (s) into practice

2 Experimental part

2.1 Process for the synthesis of star polymers by ionic polymerization

The following procedure was used for the synthesis of star polymers: The appropriate polyol trimethylol propane (TMP), stannous octoate (SnOct) and substances necessary for the synthesis of the arms were weighed into the sulfonation flask, i.e. 2-H-oxet (OXET), ε -caprolactone (CAPA) in a given ratio. Then, under a gentle supply of inert gas, the polymerization apparatus was heated in a heating mantle to 150 °C and maintained at this temperature for 5 hours. After five hours, the temperature was raised to 180 °C, and was maintained until the acid number dropped below 5 mg KOH/g.

The progress of the polymerization was monitored by SEC, where a decrease in the low molecular weight fraction and an increase in the high molar fraction of the star were visible.

Figure 5 shows a graph of time versus M_n and M_w . The linear course of the graph shows that it is a controlled ionic polymerization.



Figure 5 Verification of ionic polymerization kinetics

Subsequently, star polymers characterized by SEC and the SEC-MALS-on-line viscometer method were synthesized. The results of the determination of the molar mass by the SEC method are shown in Table 4, and the results from the determination of the absolute molar masses and intrinsic viscosity are shown in Table 5. The formulations of the prepared star polymers are given in Tables 1-3.

Sample name	H-12	Н-13	H-14	Н-15	Н-16
Model	1 + 3	1 + 3 + 6	1 + 3 + 9	1 + 3 + 12	1 + 3 + 15
Content	TMP Puralact B3 TIB KAT 129	TMP Caprolactone Puralact B3 TIB KAT 129			
Look (2 nd day)	clear	clear	clear	clear	clear 5 th day turbid
Solid state (%)	98.1	98.0	98.9	98.0	98.8
Viscosity (25°C mPa.s)	6,842	6,365	5,675	5,515	6,170
Viscosity (60°C mPa.s)	-	-	-	-	-
Condition s	5h/130°C+0.5h/160° C	5h/130°C+0.5h/160° C	5h/130°C+0.5h/160° C	6h/130°C+0.5h/160° C	6h/130°C+0.5h/160° C

Table 1 Star polymers based on trimethylolpropane (TMP)

Sample name	H-17/1	H-18	H-19	H-20	H-21/B
Model	1 + 3 + 18	1 + 6 + 15	1 + 6 + 18	1 + 6 +24	1 + 3 + 36
Content	TMP Caprolactone Puralact B3 TIB KAT 129				
Look (2 nd day)	solid, turbit	clear	clear	clear, later turbid	turbid
Solid state (%)	97.5	97.5	98.9	98.7	98.8
Viscosity (25°C mPa.s)	-	21,900	20,285	22,800	-
Viscosity (60°C mPa.s)	1,290	1,480	1,630	2,080	100,800
Condition s	7h/130°C+0.5h/160° C	6h/130°C+0.5h/160° C	6h/130°C+0.5h/160° C	7h/130°C+0.5h/160° C	7h/140°C+0.5h/170° C

Table 2 Star polymers based on trimethylolpropane (TMP)

Sample name	H-3416
Model	1 + 12 + 48
Content	TMP Caprolactone Puralact B3 TIB KAT 129
Look (2 nd day)	turbid
Solid state (%)	99.2
Viscosity (25°C mPa.s)	19,422
Viscosity (60°C mPa.s)	3,705
Conditions	7h/130°C+0.5h/170°C

Table 3 Star polymers based on trimethylolpropane (TMP)

2.1 Characteristics of prepared star polymers

PS standards (Agilent) were used to calibrate the gel permeation chromatography, THF was used as the mobile phase, the columns used were Agilent PLgel Mixed-C 300 x 7.5 mm packed with a styrene-divinylbenzene gel with a particle size of 5 μ m. The sample weight for analysis was 3 mg/ml, and the column was injected with 100 μ l. Polystyrene calibration was used only to very roughly estimate the molar mass and to monitor changes during synthesis.

In the SEC chromatograms, a decrease of the starting monomers at the end of the chromatogram and a gradual increase of the product were visible, i. stars at the beginning of the chromatogram. The reaction kinetics of ionic polymerization were also performed on the sample. It was found that the resulting dependence of the monitored samples is linear. This means that the reaction is controlled (see Chapter 3.1).

The results of the molecular weight determination by SEC-RI are shown in Table 4. Table 4 shows the basic parameters M_n , M_w , M_z and the dispersity M_w/M_n . The results show a gradual increase in the number - average relative molar mass, the weight - average relative molar mass and the z - average molar mass. The resulting dispersion is in the range of 1.30 - 1.80, which corresponds to higher values of polydispersity in ionic polymerizations. Usually the values of polydispersity range from 1.10 to 1.40. Star polymers with a higher dispersion are polymers with a high CAPA / LAC ratio, the substances forming the arms of the resulting star. Higher dispersity values are probably due to the different CAPA / LAC reaction rate.

Star	Mn	M_w	M_z	M_w/M_n
Н 13	1,800	2,300	2,900	1.30
H 14	2,300	3,100	3,900	1.30
H 15	2,700	3,600	4,400	1.30
H 16	3,100	4,200	5,200	1.30
H 17	3,800	5,100	6,300	1.40
H 18	3,800	5,100	6,500	1.40
H 19	3,000	3,300	3,500	1.10
Н 20	5,100	7,100	9,100	1.40
H 21	7,200	11,000	15,600	1.50
H 3416	8,000	14,000	19,100	1.80

 Table 4 Experimental data obtained by SEC-RI method for prepared star polymers

2.1 Characteristics using SEC-MALS-OnlineViskozimeter

The SEC-MALS-RI-on line viscometer system was used to determine the absolute molar masses, THF was used as the mobile phase and the sample injection into the column was $100 \ \mu$ l.

Table 5 shows the absolute values of molar masses, polydispersity M_w/M_z and intrinsic viscosity [η] (ml/g).

The differences in molar masses between the SEC in Table 4 and the SEC-MALS-RI-on line viscometer in Table 5 are due to the SEC system being calibrated to PS standards. In the analysis of the samples, the elution time of the PS standards was compared with the elution time of the sample. The molar masses obtained by the SEC method are correct but indicative. They are indicative of the fact that the samples are star-shaped polymers, but the PS standards are linear, and this fact entails inaccuracies in the determination of molar masses by SEC.

On the other hand, the SEC-MALS-RI-on line viscometer system does not need to be calibrated to PS standards, the system works with light scattering, and this provides us with absolute values of molar mass M_w . This system is suitable for the characterization of structured, branched copolymers.

Star	M _n (g/mol)	M _w (g/mol)	Mz (g/mol)	M_w/M_n	[η] (ml/g)
H 13	1,300	1,500	1,700	1.14	5.8
H 14	1,600	1,900	2,200	1.17	6.9
H 15	1,900	2,200	2,500	1.15	7.0
H 16	2,400	2,600	3,000	1.11	8.5
H 17	2,700	3,000	3,300	1.11	9.6
H 18	2,800	3,100	3,600	1.14	10.1
Н 19	3,000	3,500	3,600	1.18	9.1
Н 20	3,700	4,300	4,900	1.15	11.8
H 21	5,700	6,600	7,700	1.16	17.2
Н 3416	6,700	8,800	10,900	1.31	10.2

Table 5 Experimental data obtained by SEC-MALS method for prepared star polymers

Figure 6 shows the cumulative molar distributions of trimethylolpropane (TMP) -based star polymers. As the ratio of Arm-forming chemicals changes, the molar mass gradually increases in the series. The increase in molar mass is due to a gradual increase in the amount of arm-forming chemicals in the reaction mixture. This growth of arm-forming chemicals is visible in Tables 1-3, where the formulation of TMP-based star polymers is shown.



Figure 6 Cumulative molar mass distribution of star polymers based on TMP

2.2 Optimization of curing conditions for polyurethane coatings

Two studies were performed to set the curing conditions of PUR coatings. The first focused on the effect of temperature and cure time and the second on the effect of IPDI. 3 types of stars were selected to study the effect of temperature and curing time. One pseudostar, one star based on pentaerythritol and one star based on dipentaerythritol were selected. Three test temperatures of 80 °C, 90 °C and 110 °C and three cure times of 3 hours, 6 hours and 8 hours were selected. Times of 3 and 8 hours were used for 80 °C and 90 °C, a combination of 3 hours and 6 hours for 110 °C.

As shown in Table 6, for stars H-2310, H-14 and H-415, which were cured at 80 °C at 3 and 6 hours, this did not affect the hardness of the prepared coating. The prepared coatings remain sticky and soft even after firing. It was difficult to evaluate them because they adhered to the needle of the micro hardness tester and due to their softness, the hardness of the glass was measured and not the coating. Curing at a higher temperature helped, where the coatings showed minimal tack, but virtually no hardness of the prepared coating film.

-	-					
Temperature (°C)	8	0	9	0	11	10
Time (h)	3	8	3	8	3	6
H-2310	sticky	sticky	0.5	0.8	0.6	0.6
H-14	1.2	0.0	1.7	1.9	1.9	2.2
H-415	0.0	0.0	3.5	3.2	2.6	2.9

Table 6 Results of the dependence of micro hardness on the temperature and curing time of coatings based on a pure star with IPDI on glass

For better clarity of the results, Figure 7 was created, which shows the dependence of time and temperature on the hardness of the prepared coating.



Figure 7 Dependence of temperature and curing time on the hardness of the coating film

It can be seen from Figure 7 that higher temperatures and longer firing times do not have a significant effect on the hardness of the prepared coatings. Therefore, a temperature of 80 $^{\circ}$ C and a time of 3 hours were chosen under optimal conditions. When firing the coatings, this temperature and time proved to be correct, as all formulated coatings based on three, five and hyperbranched stars were cured under these conditions.

2.2.1 Influence of IPDI on coating hardness

Two-star types H-415 and H-21 were selected to set the amount of IPDI. IPDI with a content of 34.04% NCO was used. The content of NCO groups was determined potentiometrically in Synpo a.s according to the internal directive. Labelling H-415-1 and H-21-1 means a standard addition of IPDI according to the paint formulation, and labelling H-415-2 with H-21-2 means a 10% excess of IPDI in the formulation.

The effect of isocyanate addition on the hardness of prepared coatings is shown in Chart 7.

Chart 7 Dependence of the hardness of the coating on the IPDI content, where number 1 means the standard addition and number 2, a 10% excess of IPDI

Star	OH (mg KOH/g)	HM (N/mm ²)	E (GPa)
H-415-1	71.6	1.1	0.0
H-415-2	71.6	1.3	0.0
H-21-1	105.2	2.0	0.0
H-21-2	105.2	2.0	0.0

A slight excess of IPDI increased the hardness of the coatings, so this option was chosen in the coating film formulation, but also because a 10 % excess of isocyanate is usually used in the formulation of PUR coatings.

2.3 Evaluation of properties of coating films based on trimethylolpropane

TMP was chosen as the basis of the star polymer, which was branched by the addition of CAPA and LAC in different ratios, so that there was a gradual decrease in the hydroxide number in the series. Table 8 shows the summarized results of the TMP-based council. Determination of abrasion using taber abraser was not possible with this series, due to the low hardness of the coatings, for this reason the coatings were torn and glued to the rollers of the taber abraser. The bend on the cylindrical mandrel was greater than 2 mm for all prepared coatings, which indicates that the coatings have a good adhesion to the surface.

Stor	OH	HM	E	Bend
Star	(mgKOH/g)	(N/mm^2)	(GPa)	(mm)
H-13	134.4	2.4	0.2	< 2
H-14	105.2	1.2	0.0	< 2
H-15	84.5	2.0	0.0	< 2
H-16	77.5	1.2	0.0	< 2
H-17/1	64.9	1.3	0.0	< 2
H-18	63.2	1.6	0.0	< 2
H-20	47.5	1.4	0.0	< 2
H-21/B	33.4	1.5	0.0	< 2
H-3416	24.9	1.1	0.0	< 2

Table 8 Properties of pure paint films based on TMP

Chart 8 shows the decrease in hydroxide number of the prepared TMP-based star polymers. This decrease is due to a change in the ratio of the starting materials forming the star's arms. The resulting micro hardness of the coatings is in the range of 1.1-2.4 N/mm², these values are very low, the resulting coatings are soft and showed good adhesion to the surface and anti-slip properties. Table 10 shows that the decrease in hydroxide number does not have a significant effect on the change in microhardness of the prepared coatings.

3 Conclusion

Ion polymers prepared star polymers based on trimethylol propane (TMP), of which there were 10. The prepared star polymers were characterized by the SEC method and the SEC-MALS-RI-on line viscometer. Absolute molar masses, dispersity, intrinsic viscosity and cumulative molar mass distributions were obtained from this method. By changing the amount of arm-forming chemicals, there was a gradual increase in molar mass in a series of star polymers, as seen in Figure 6, which shows the cumulative molar distributions of TMP-based star polymers.

Optimization of the curing conditions of the polyurethane coatings into which the synthesized star polymers were used was performed. Dibutyltin dilaurate was used as a polymerization catalyst as a 1 % solution in methyl ethyl ketone.

In the next step, an experiment was performed to determine the effect of the amount of isophorone diisocyanate (IPDI) on the hardness of the resulting coating. It was found that a higher amount of IPDI slightly increases the hardness of the resulting coatings. For this reason, a 10 % excess of IPDI in the coating formulation was chosen. A 10 % excess was also chosen because this excess is also commonly used in practice in the formulation of polyurethane paints.

Ten polyurethane coatings based on pure star polymers were formulated. The resulting coatings were soft after firing, and therefore it was not possible to determine the abrasion resistance on the Taber Abraser. The microhardness of the prepared coatings ranged from 1.1 to 2.4 N/mm². These values are low. In the bending test on the cylindrical mandrel, the resulting bending was <2 mm for all coatings, which indicates the elasticity of the coatings. The determination of the hydroxyl number OH

mg KOH/g was necessary to calculate the amount of isocyanate needed to cure the coating.

These coatings showed interesting properties, despite their softness, their surface appeared to be non-slip. Their potential use is possible, for example: in showers.

To verify that the monomers react with controlled ionic polymerization, polymerization kinetics studies have been performed which have shown to be controlled ionic polymerization.

4 List of References

- [1] J. R. Schaefgen, P. J. Flory, Synthesis of Multichain Polymers and Investigation of their Viscosities, *Journal of American Chemical Society*, 70(8), 2709-2718, 1948
- [2] Dendrimers and other Dendritic Polymers, editors: Jean M. J. Fréchet., Donald A. Tomalia., John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., 2001, ISBN: 0-471-63850-1
- [3] Macromolecular Engineering, Precise Synthesis, Material Properties, Application, Volume 2: Elements of Macromolecular Structural Control, editors: K. Matyjaszewski, Y. Gnanou, L. Leibler., John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., 2007, ISBN: 978-3-527-31446-1
- [4] Structure and Proporties of Polymers, He Pingsheng, Alpha Science International, Ltd., 2014, ISBN:978-1842658512
- [5] K. Matyjaszewski, N. V. Tsaversky, Nanostructured functional materials by atom transfer radical polymerization, *Nature Chemistry*, 1(4), 276-288, 2009
- [6] Hawker, C.J. Angew. Architectural Control in "Living Radical Polymerizations: Preparation of Star and Graft Polymers, *Chem. Int. ED. Engl.* 1995, 13-14, 1456-1459, Kolzenburg
- [7] A. Trifaridou, D. Kafouris, M. Vamvakaki, T. K. Georgiou, T. C. Krasia, E. Themistou, N. Hadjantoniou, C. S. Patrickios, Three different types of quasi-model networks: synthesis by group transfer polymerization and characterization, Polymer Bulletin 58, 185-190, 2017, presented at P.M.M. *Microsynphosium* , *Polymer Gels and Networks*", Prague 10-14 July 2005
- [8] T. K. Georgiou, L. A. Phylactou, C. S. Patrickios, Synthesis, Characterization, and Evaluation as Transferction Reagents of Ampholytic Star Copolymers: Effect of Star Architecture, *Biomacromolecules*, 7, 3505-3512, 2006
- [9] K. S. Pafiti, N. P. Mastroyiannopoulos, L. A. Phylactou, C. S. Patrickios, Hydrofilic Cationic Star Homopolymers Based on a Novel Diethanol-*N*-Methylamine Dimethacrylate Coss-Linked for siRNA Transection: Synthesis, Characterization an Evaluation, *Biomacromolecules*, 12, 1468-1479, 2011
- [10] T. K. Georgiou, M. Vamvakaki, C. S. Patrickios, E. N. Yamasaki, L. A. Phylactou, Nanoscopic Cationic Methacrylate Star Homopolymers: Synthesis by Group Transfer Polymerization, Characterization and Evaluation as Transfection Reagents, *Biomacromolecules*, 5, 6, 2221-2229, 2004
- [11] T. K. Georgiou, M. Vamvakaki, L. A. Phylactou, C. S. Patrickios, Synthesis, Characterization and Evaluation as Transfection Reagents of Double-Hydrofilic Star Copolymers: Effect of Star Architecture *Biomacromolecules*, 6, 6, 2990-2997, 2005
- [12] W. Wu, W. Wang, J. Li, Star polymers: advanced in biomedical appl. Progress in pol. Sc., 46, 2015, 55-85
- [13] H. Yasuda, H. Yamamoto, K. Yokota, S. Miyake, A. Nakamura, Synthesis of monodispersed high molecular weight polymers and isolation of an

organolanthanide (III) intermediate coordinated by a penultimate poly(MMA) unit, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 114, 4908-4910, 1992

- [14] M. Kato, M. Kamigaito, M. Sawamoto, T. Higashimura, Polymerization of Methacrylate with the Carbon Tetrachloride/Dichlorotris-(triphenylphosphine)ruthenium(II)/Methylaluminium Bis(-di-tertbutylphenoxide) Initiatins System: Possibility of Living Radical Polymerization, *Macromolecules*, 28, 1721-1723, 1995
- [15] A. H. E. Müller, Group Transfer and anionic polymerization: A critical comparison, *Makromol. Chem., Macromol. Symp.*, 32, 87, 1990
- [16] R. P. Quirk, J. Ren, Mechanistic Studies of group transfer polymerization. Silyl group exchange studies, *Macromolecules*, 25, 24, 6612-6620, 1992
- [17] O. W. Webster, W. R. Hertler, D. Y. Sogah, W. B. Farnham, T. V. RajanBabu, Group-transfer polymerization. 1. A new concept for addition polymerization with organosilicon initiators, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 105, 5706, 1983
- [18] U.S. Patent 4,417,034., 22 November 1983, O. W. Webster
- [19] U.S. Patent 4,414,372., 8 November 1983, W. B. Farnham, D. Y. Sogah
- [20] A. H. E. Müller, Group Transfer and anionic polymerization: A critical comparison *Makromol. Chem., Macromol. Symp.*, 32, 87, 1990
- [21] R. P. Quirk, J. Ren, Mechanistic Studies of group transfer polymerization. Silyl group exchange studies *Macromolecules*, 25, 24, 6612-6620, 1992
- [22] M. Fevre, J. Vignolle, V. Heroquez, D. Taton, Tris(2,4,6-trimethoxyphenyl) phosphine (TTMPP) as Potent Organocatalyst for Group Transfer Polymerization of Alkyl(Meth)acrylates, *Macromolecules*, 45, 19, 7711-7718, 2012
- [23] O. W. Webster, The Discovery and commercialization of group transfer polymerization, J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem., 38, 16, 2855-2860, 2000
- [24] O. W. Webster, Group Transfer Polymerization: A Critical Reviews of Its Mechanism and Comparation with Other Methods for Controlled Polymerisation of Acrylic Monomersm Adv. Polym. Sci., 167, 1-34, Springer, 2004, ISBN:978-3-540-36458-0
- [25] O. W. Webster, Living Polymerization Methods, *Science*, 251, 4996, 887-893, 1991
- [26] D. Y. Sogah, W. R. Hertler, O. W. Webster, G. M. Cohen, Group Transfer Polymerization of Acrylic Monomers, *Macromolecules*, 20, 1473-1488, 1987
- [27] M. Elladiou, C. S. Patrickios, 2-(Pyridin-2-yl)ethanol as a protecting group for carboxylic acids: chemical and thermal cleavage, and corversion og poly[2-(pyridin-2-yl)ethyl methacrylate] to poly(methacrylic acid), *Polym. Chem.*, 3, 3228-3231, 2012
- [28] M. D. Rikkou, C. S. Patrickios, Well-Defined Networks with Precisely Located Cleavable Sites: Structure Optimization and Core Functionality Determination, *Macromolecules*, 41, 5957-5959, 2008

- [29] M. D. Rikkou, E. Loizou, L. Porcar, P. Butler, C. S. Patrickios, Degradable Amphiphilic End-Linked Conetworks with Aqueous Degradation Rates Determined by Polimer Topology, *Macromolecules*, 42, 24, 9412-9421, 2009
- [30] D. Kafouris, C. S. Patrickios, Synthesis and characterization of shell-cross-linked polymer network and large-core star polymers: Effect of the volume of the cross-linking mixture, Eur. *Polym. J.*, 45, 10-18, 2009
- [31] W. R. Hertler, D. Y. Sogah, O. W. Webster, B. M. Trost, Depression of glass transition temperature in aramid-polybutadiene multiblock copolymers, *Macromolecules*, 17, 1417-1421, 1984
- [32] D. Y. Sogah, W. B. Farnham, Seventh International Symposium on Organosilicon Chemistry, Kyoto, Japan, Sept. 9, 1984, Ellis Horwood Limited, Chichester, UK, 1985
- [33] Principles of Polymerization 4th Edition, G. Odian, John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., 2004, 372-491, ISBN: 0-471-27400-3
- [34] Materials and methods. Handbook of Polymer Synthesis (in two parts), editors:
 H. R. Kticheldorf, M. Dekker, 1992, 899-925, ISBN:0-8247-8514-2/0-8247-8515-0
- [35] R. B. Grubbs, R. H. Grubbs, 50th Anniversary Perspective: Living Polymerization-Emphasizing the Molecule in Macromolecules, *Macromolecules*, 50, 18, 6979-6997, 2017
- [36] D. Y. Sogah, W. R. Hertler, O. W. Webster, G. M. Cohen, Group Transfer Polymerization. Polymerization of Acrylic Monomers, Macromolecules, 20, 1473-1488, 1987
- [37] L. Arnaut, S. Formosinho, H. Burrows, Chemical Kinetics, From Molecular Structure to Chemical Reactivity, 2006, 295-320, ISBN: 978-0-444-52186-6
- [38] H. L. Hsieh, R. P. Quirk, Anionic Polymerization, Principles and Practical Applications, 1996, ISBN: 9780824795238
- [39] A. A. Entezami, M. Abbasian, Recent advances in synthesis of new polymers by living free radical polymerization, *Iranian Polymer Journal*, 15, 7, 583-611, 2006
- [40] T. Otsu, M. Yoshida, T. Tazaki, Reversible-Deactivation Radical Polymerization, *Makromol. Chem., Rapid Commum,* 3, 133-140, 1982
- [41] R. Boukherroub, M. Georges, Synthéses de 3-silyl et de 3-germyl 1 sila et 1-germacyclopent-3-énes, *Journal of Organometallic Chemistry*, 460, 2, 155-161, 1993
- [42] Encyclopedia of Radicals in Chemistry, Biology, and Materials, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2012, ISBN: 9781119953678
- [43] K. Matyjaszewski, Atom Transfer Radical Polymerization: From Mechanisms to Application, *Israel Journal of Chemistry*, 52(3-4), 2012, 206-220

- [44] J. Jagur-Grodzinski, Preparation of functionalized polymers using living and controlled polymerizations, *Reactive and Functional Polymers* 49, 1, 2001, 1-54
- [45] C. Sholz, K. Matyjaszewski, Advanced in Atom Transfer Radical Polymerization, *Polym. Int.*, 63, 5, 2014, 801-802
- [46] K. Matyjaszewski, Macromolecular Engineering by Atom Transfer Radical Polymerization, N. V. Tsarevsky, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 136,18, 2014, 6513-6533
- [47] E. B. Cernikova, Vysokomolekulyarne Soedineniya, ser C, 57, 3-5, 2015
- [48] *Encyclopedia of Polymer Science and Technology 4th Edition*, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., vol. 6, 696-720, 2002, ISBN: 9781118633892
- [49] S. Fakirov, *Handbook of Condensation Thermoplastic Elastomers*, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, Germany, 2005
- [50] J. D. Nordstrom, A. H. Dervan, *In Proceedings of Waterborne Hight-Solids Coatings Symphosium*, New Orleans, La., pp 3, 1993
- [51] Polyurethanes VI, Skeist Inc., Whippany, N. J., 7-21, 2006
- [52] M. Ionescu, Z. Petrovic, High Functionality Polyether Polyols Based on Polyglycerol, J. Cell. Plast., 46, 223-237, 2010
- [53] E. Steiner, R. Pelletier, R. Trucks, A Study of the Polymerization of Propylene Oxide Catalyzed by Anhydridous Potassium Hydroxide, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 86, 4678-4786, 1964
- [54] J. Sheth, G. Wilkes, A. Fornof, T. Long, I. Yilor, Probing the Hard Segment Phase Connectivity and Percolation in Model Segment Poly (urethane urea) Copolymers, *Macromolecules*, 38, 5681-5685, 2005
- [55] M. O'Sickey, B. Lawrey, G. Wilkes, Structure-property relationships of poly (urethane ureas) with ultra-low monol content poly (propylene glycol) soft segments. I. Influence of soft segment molecular weight and hard segment content, J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 84, 229-243, 2002
- [56] M. Billiau-Loreau, G. Durand, G. Tersac, Structural effects of diacidic and glycolic moieties on physicochemical properties of aromatic polyesterdiols from glycolysis/esterification of poly (ethylene terephthalate) wastes, *Polymer*, 43, 21-28, 2001
- [57] S. Horstman, H. Gardeler, K. Fisher, F. Koester, J. Gmehling, Vapor Pressure, Vapor-Liquid Equilibrium, and Excess Enthalpy Data for Compounds and Binary Subsystems of the Chlorohydrin Process for Propylene Oxide Production, J. Chem. Eng. Data, 46, 337-345, 2001
- [58] P. Vandervoode, A van Gaans, Eur. Coatings J., 9, 22-29, 2005
- [59] Polyurethanes VI, Skeist Inc., Whippany, N. J., 972, 2006
- [60] M. Ferrer, D. Babb, A. Ryan, Characterization of polyurethane networks based on vegetable derived polyol, *Polymer*, 49, 3279-3287, 2008
- [61] C. Saikumar, S. Rajadurai, Synthesis and Characterization of castor oil urethane triamine networks, *J. Appl. Polym. Sci.*, 34, 651-656, 1987

- [62] W. J. Blank, Z. A. He, E. T. Hessel, Catalysis of the isocyanate-hydroxil reaction by non-tin catalysts, *Prog. Org. Coat.*, 35, 19, 1999
- [63] J. Mleziva, J. Šňupárek, *Polymery výroba, struktura, vlastnosti a použití,* 2. přeprac. Vyd. Praha Europa Sobotáles, 20000. ISBN: 80-85920-72-7

5 List of Student's Published Works

Boháčik Peter. Machotová Jana. Podzimek Štěpán. Vplvv kopolymerizovaného metylakrylátu na vlastnosti emulzne pripravených stvrénu. kopolvmérov na bázi Studentská vědecká konference Ostravská Univerzita Prírodovedecká fakulta 6.5.2014, Ostrava. ISBN:978-80-7464-359-0

Podzimek Štěpán, Machotová Jana, Černošková Eva, Boháčik Peter. Vplyv obsahu kopolymerizovaného etylakrylátu na vlastnosti emulzne pripravených kopolymérov na bázi styrénu, 16. Študentská vedecká konferencia STU Bratislava Fakulta Chemickej a potravinárskej technológie, 12. 11. 2014 Bratislava, 395-396, ISBN: 978-80-227-4268-9

Podzimek Štěpán, Machotová Jana, Černošková Eva, Boháčik Peter. *Studium molekulové hmotnosti emulzně připravených kopolymerů styrenu v závislosti na obsahu akrylátového komonomeru*, MMK 2014 Mezinárodní Masarykova konference pro doktorandy a mladé vědecké pracovníky, 15. – 19. 12. 2014, 3544-3553, ISBN: 978-80-87952-07-8

Podzimek Štěpán, Machotová Jana, Zárybnícka Lucie, Boháčik Peter. *Polyfunkčné monomery na bázi hexachlóro-cyklo-trifosfazénu*, 3. Mezinárodná chemicko-technologická konference, Mikulov 13. – 15. 4. 2015, ISBN: 978-80-86238-73-9

Boháčik Peter, Podzimek Štěpán, Špaček Vladimír. *Syntéza akrylátových hviezdicovitých polymérov jako modifikátory vlastností roztokových nátěrových hmot*, Konference pigmenty a pojiva, Seč 2. – 3. listopad 2015, 132-134, ISBN: 978-80-906269-0-4

Boháčik Peter, Podzimek Štěpán, Špaček Vladimír. *Syntéza hviezdicovitých polymérov pomocou GTP polymerizácie*, 12. Mezinárodní odborný seminár, Progresívni a netradiční technologie povrchových úprav, Hotel Myslivna Brno, 18. – 19. 11. 2015,103-104, ISBN: 978-80-87583-14-2

Podzimek Štěpán, Machotová Jana, Boháčik Peter, Zgoni Hedvika, Šnupárek Jaromír. *Application of A4F-MALS for the Characterization of Polymers Prepared by Emulsion Polymerization: Comparison of the Molecular Structure of Styrene-Acrylate and Methyl Methacrylate-Acrylate Copolymers*, Polymer-Plastic Technology ang Engineering, Published online: 01 Mar 2016

Boháčik Peter, Podzimek Štěpán, Špacek Vladimír, Kadlecová Michaela, *Characterization of star-like Polymers by SEC Coupled Multi-angle Light Scattering Photometer and On-line Viscometer*, The 24th Annual World Forum on Advanced Materials, May 9 – 13, 2016, Poznan, Poland, POLYCHAR Poznan 2016, 172-175

Štěpán Podzimek, Hedvika Zgoni, Jana Machotová, Peter Boháčik. Characterization of the Molecular and Chemical Stricture of Acrylic Emulsion Polymers by Asymmetric Flow Field Flow Fractionation Coupled with a Multi-Angle Light Scattering Detector, 18th International Synposium on Field- and Flow-Based Separations, May 22- 26, 2016, Dresden, Book of Abstracts, O5

Boháčik Peter, Podzimek Štěpán, Špaček Vladimír. *Syntéza styrénakrylátových polymérov ako modifikátory vlastností roztokových náterových hmôt metodou RAFT*, Konference pigmenty a pojiva, Seč 7. – 8. listopad 2016,86-88, ISBN: 978-80-906269-1-1

Boháčik Peter, Podzimek Štěpán, Špaček Vladimír, Bandžuch Jan, *Syntéza hvězdicovitých polymerů připravených iontovou polymeraci jako pojiva pro polyuretanové nátěrové hmoty*, 5. Mezinárodná chemicko-technologická konference, Mikulov 10. – 12. 4. 2017, ISBN:978-80-86238-63-3

Boháčik Peter, Podzimek Štěpán, Špaček Vladimír, Bandžuch Jan, Kadlecová Michaela, *Polyurethane Coatings Based on Star Polymers Prepared by Ionic Polymerization*, ETCC 2018 European Technical Coatings Congress, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 26 – 29 June 2018

Král Michal, Boháčik Peter, Kruml Josef, Uher Ondřej, *Experimental Testing of the effect of PEEK Surface Treatments on the Shear Strenght of Glued Joints*, EAN 2020, 58th Conference on experimental stress analysis, Zámecký resort Sobotín, Czech Republic, 19 – 22 October 2020

Boháčik Peter, Bárta Jíři, *Advanced Surface for Controlled Optical Proporties*, 29th International Conference on Metallurgy and Materials, Brno, Czech Republic, May 20-22, 2020, pp. 858-861, ISBN: 978-80-87294-97-0